**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE
COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from the Court of Common Pleas
For Beaufort County
Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Judge
Civil Action No.: 2015-CP-07-00913
Appellate Tracking No.: 2017-002019

RECEIVED
MAY 11 2018
SC Court of Appeals

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF JOHN JOSEPH MANNING, Jr.

Deanna Bushman, as Holder of Durable Power of Attorney
for Sally Manning and as Trustee of the Trust Agreement for
Sally Manning Dated 6 December 2004,

Respondent,

v.

The Estate of John Joseph Manning, Jr., John J. Manning, III,
Christopher Manning, and Linda Manning,

Appellants.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

R. Bruce Wallace, Esquire
S.C. Bar. No.: 011653

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. Whether The Circuit Court Properly Granted The Respondent Partial Summary Judgment On The Elective Share Issue?
- B. Whether The Circuit Court Improperly Relied Upon Attorney Harry Ruff's Affidavit In Granting The Respondent Summary Judgment?
- C. Whether The Circuit Court Correctly Determined The Support Trust Was Without Any Value?
- D. ~~Whether The Circuit Court Properly Denied The Appellants' Motion For~~
Reconsideration In Light Of The Improper Grant Of Summary Judgment?
- E. Whether The Circuit Court's Summary Judgment Was Improper In Light Of The Fact The Circuit Court's Decision Sally Manning Was Entitled To Her Elective Share Triggered Creation Of The Support Trust?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent, Deanna Bushman, as Holder of Durable Power of Attorney for Sally Manning and as Trustee of the Trust Agreement for Sally Manning, dated 6 December 2004 (Ms. Bushman¹), filed her Amended Complaint and Notice of Elective Share on 21 December 2015. (R.pp.10-25). She asserted claims against the Appellants, John J. Manning, III; Christopher Manning; Linda Manning; and the Estate of John J. Manning, Jr., (the "Mannings")² for breach of fiduciary duty, conversion, constructive trust, undue influence and duress, removal of the current trustees, an accounting, injunctive relief, and a petition/request for elective share. (R.pp.17-24, paras. 57-108). The Mannings denied the material allegations (R.pp.27-36, 39-40, paras. 1-100, 141-150) and asserted several affirmative defenses. (R.pp.36-37, paras. 101-116). They also asserted conversion and constructive trust counterclaims. (R.pp.38-39, paras. 121-139). Ms. Bushman denied the material allegations (R.pp.45-48, paras. 2-3, 7-28) and asserted various affirmative defenses. (Rpp.48-49, paras. 30, 32, 34, 36, 38, and 40).³

1 Ms. Bushman is Sally Manning's agent under a Durable Power of Attorney. Due to Sally Manning's 2006 dementia diagnosis, she has lived since mid-2008 at The Preston, the memory unit at The Cypress in Hilton Head retirement community. (R.p.12, para. 15; R.p.28, para. 16). Ms. Bushman is Sally Manning's niece by marriage. The Appellants, John J. Manning, III and Christopher H. Manning, are Sally Manning's step-children. The Appellant, Linda Manning, is Christopher's wife.

2 The Appellants, John III and Christopher are John J. Manning, Jr.'s only children. John III is the Personal Representative of the Manning Estate. He and Christopher are the Trustees of Mr. Manning's Revocable Trust.

3 The Mannings submitted the Last Will and Testament of John Joseph Manning, Jr. for probate to the Beaufort County Probate Court. (R.p.11, para. 3). Ms. Bushman filed a Notice of Elective Share for Sally Manning. The matter was later removed to the Circuit Court.

The Mannings moved for summary judgment asserting South Carolina law did not require outright distribution of an elective share amount from an illusory trust. (R.p.51).⁴ Ms. Bushman moved for partial summary judgment on the Elective Share asserting the same law granted Sally Manning a full elective share of the Manning Estate. (Rp.59).

The Circuit Court considered the parties respective motions (R.p.1-3, lines 3-6) on 11 July 2017, (R.p.100) and, from the Bench, orally denied the Mannings' motion and granted Ms. Bushman's motion. (R.p.111, lines 16-19). By order dated 7 September 2017, the Circuit Court memorialized its verbal decision. (R.pp.4-9). The Mannings unsuccessfully moved for reconsideration (R.pp.1-3; R.pp.95-99). This appeal followed.

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

John J. Manning Jr. ("Mr. Manning") and Sally Manning were married (R.p.5; R.p.11, para. 10) in October 1997. (R.p.73). Mr. Manning died testate on 4 September 2014. (R.p.5; R.p.17, para. 55; R.p.31, para. 51). Sally Manning is Mr. Manning's surviving spouse. (R.p.5; R.p.17, para. 55).⁵

Mr. Manning married Sally Manning in October 1997. (R.p.73). In 2004, Mr. Manning executed a revocable *inter vivos* trust (the "Trust") which, at his death, allocated his assets between two sub-trusts – a marital trust and a family trust; undisputedly Sally Manning was the beneficiary of both during her lifetime. (R.p.12, paras. 13-14; R.p.28, paras. 14-15; R.p.78). In 2008, Mr. Manning revised his 2004 estate planning documents in part to update the document to the then-Federal estate tax credit/exclusion amounts -

⁴ See S. C. Code Ann. §§ 62-2-201, *et seq.* (Thomson Reuters West 2016).

⁵ Sally Manning was previously diagnosed with dementia and Alzheimer's disease since the late 2008. (R.p.12, para. 15; R.p.28, para. 16). She resides "at The Cypress of Hilton Head in The Preston Health Center and [receives] specialized care for her cognitive impairments." (R.p.12, para. 15; R.p.28, para. 16).

effectively eliminating any provision for the marital sub-trust. (R.p.12, para. 13; R.p.78). In 2009, Mr. Manning again amended the Trust to exclude Sally Manning as a beneficiary of the Trust except under specific conditions. (R.p.5; R.p.12, para. 13). In 2012, Mr. Manning again revised the documents by signing an amendment which amended and restated the Trust in its entirety. (R.p.12, para. 13; R.pp.77-90). Sally Manning was again excluded as a beneficiary except under specific circumstances. (R.p.5; R.pp.77-90).⁶

Mr. Manning's Last Will and Testament specifically stated Sally Manning **shall take nothing** under his will. (R.p.5). Similarly, the relevant provisions of Mr. Manning's **inter vivos** Trust Agreement (the "Support Trust") specifically addressed asset dispositions to Sally Manning:

- (C) I hereby expressly make **no provision** in this Trust Agreement for my spouse, SALLY A. MANNING. Notwithstanding the above, in the event any portion of the Trust Estate shall be deemed payable to or for the benefit of my spouse [Sally Manning], such amount shall be held, administered and distributed as a separate share for the benefit of my spouse [Sally Manning] as provided in this Paragraph (C) of **ARTICLE 4**. In such event, JOHN J. MANNING, III and CHRISTOPHER H. MANNING, or the survivor of them, shall serve as trustee of such separate share.
- (1) The trustee shall pay to, or for the benefit of, my spouse [Sally Manning], during her lifetime, so much of the income of the separate share, if any, established in this Paragraph (C) as the trustee shall, from time to time, determine to be necessary for the health and support of my

⁶ The balance of the Trust passed outright to John J. Manning, III and Christopher H. Manning. (R.pp.78-90). Furthermore, any assets remaining in any share established for Sally Manning also passed to the both of them at Sally Manning's death. (R.p.81). When Mr. Manning died the Trust was funded with an investment account and real property. Additionally, Mr. Manning's estate also held tangible personal property and two small refunds payable as a result of his death. His tangible personal property was distributable to John J. Manning, III and Christopher H. Manning outright. (R.pp.78-90).

spouse [Sally Manning], in accordance with the standard of living to which she has become accustomed, including medical, surgical, hospital or other institutional care, due regard being given by the trustee to the amount of income known to the trustee to be available to my spouse [Sally Manning] from other sources.

- (2) Upon the death of my spouse [Sally Manning], the principal and all accrued and undistributed income, if any, of such separate share shall be added to and become a part of the Manning Family Share to be held, administered and distributed as provided in **ARTICLE 5**.

(R.pp.5-6; R.p.81) (Emphasis added).

After Mr. Manning passed,⁷ in concert with his expressed wishes, his estate planning documents prevented anything from passing to Sally Manning. (R.p.6; R.p.81). In response, Sally Manning (via Ms. Bushman) filed her Notice of Elective share. (R.pp.23-24, paras. 102-107). The Circuit Court concluded Sally Manning was entitled to an elective share and, in turn, found the Support Trust invalid. (R.pp.7-8).

⁷ Before Mr. Manning died, he had also developed his own “cognitive issues causing a cognitive decline . . . require[ing] the assistance of in-home caregivers. (R.p.12, para. 16; R.p.28, para. 17).

IV. ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

A. Mr. Manning's Trust Agreement Created A Valid Support Trust For Sally Manning

In 2013, the South Carolina Legislature significantly revised the elective share statute. These revisions reflected the modern use of *inter vivos* trusts and other probate substitutes to satisfy the stated purpose of the elective share statute.⁸ In Williams v. Williams, the South Carolina Supreme Court concluded the “legislative purpose behind the elective share statute [wa]s to protect the family unit from becoming society's ward by preventing impoverishment of the surviving spouse.”⁹ This Court of Appeals has noted that the “ ‘old dower and later elective share provisions of the South Carolina Probate Code [we]re prime examples of State policies protecting a family unit from becoming society's wards.’ ”¹⁰ Clearly, the elective share statute “is reasonably related to the legislative purpose of providing for the surviving spouses.”¹¹

⁸ See generally 2013 Act No. 100, § 1, eff. 1 January 2014 modifying, among other provisions, S. C. Code Ann. §§ 62-2-201, *et seq.* The official Reporter noted:

Under the common law, a widow was entitled to dower which was a life estate in a fraction of lands of which her husband was seized of an estate of inheritance at any time during the marriage. The South Carolina Supreme Court [has] declared that dower was unconstitutional as a violation of the equal protection clauses of the South Carolina and United States Constitutions. South Carolina, like other states, substitutes an elective share in the whole estate for dower and the widower's common law right of curtesy.

Reporter's Comment to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-201 (Thomson Reuters West 2015).

⁹ Williams v. Williams, 335 S.C. 386, 390-391, 517 S.E.2d 689, 691 (1999) (*citing Berkebile v. Outen*, 311 S.C. 50, 55, 426 S.E.2d 760, 763 (1993)).

¹⁰ Mullinax v. J.M. Brown Amusement Co., 326 S.C. 453, 458, 485 S.E.2d 103, 106 (Ct. App. 1997), *affirmed*, 333 S.C. 89, 508 S.E.2d 848 (1998) (*quoting Berkebile v. Outen*, 311 S.C. 50, 56 fn. 3, 426 S.E.2d 760, 763 fn. 3).

¹¹ Matter of Patrick, 303 S.C. 559, 563-564, 402 S.E.2d 664, 666 (1991).

In this context, a spousal support trust such as the one created for Sally Manning by Mr. Manning's trust agreement satisfied the statutory and legislative purposes of the elective share statutory purpose, as well as **specifically provided for** Sally Manning as a surviving spouse. As the official Reporter noted:

The 2013 amendment changes substantively the method of calculation of the elective share in South Carolina. The amendment clarifies and makes certain that property passing directly to the surviving spouse in a revocable *inter vivos* trust, including a beneficial interest, **will satisfy the elective share**. The amendment eliminates the concern that property had to "pass under the will" first in order to be applied in satisfaction of the elective share.¹²

Therefore, the 2013 amendment to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-207 was promulgated with the legislative intention of allowing decedents to satisfy the elective share from beneficial interests in *inter vivos* trusts for the benefit of the surviving spouse. Mr. Manning's trust agreement created just such a beneficial interest for Sally Manning.

The South Carolina Trust Code¹³ describes several ways in which a settlor may create a trust, the applicable one for this case being as follows: "transfer of property to another person as trustee during the settlor's lifetime or by will or other disposition taking effect upon the settlor's death."¹⁴ This Court of Appeals, in Foster v. Foster, concluded that in order for a party:

¹² See Reporter's Comments to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-207 (Thomson Reuters West 2015) (Emphasis added).

¹³ See generally S.C. Code Ann. §§ 62-7-102, *et seq.* (Thomson Reuters West 2015).

¹⁴ S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-401(a)(1)(i) (Thomson Reuters West 2014).

[t]o prove the existence of a trust, the following elements must be shown: (1) a declaration creating the trust, (2) a trust *res*, and (3) designated beneficiaries [and] the trust declaration must be in writing when the trust property includes realty of any type.”¹⁵

The relevant South Carolina law which addresses and governs the creation of trusts provides identical guidelines:

A trust is created only if:

- (1) the settlor has capacity to create a trust;
- (2) the settlor indicates an intention to create the trust;
- (3) the trust has a definite beneficiary. . . .;
- (4) the trustee has duties to perform; and
- (5) the same person is not the sole trustee and sole current and future beneficiary.¹⁶

Furthermore, in the context of the Support Trust which Mr. Manning created to benefit Sally Manning, the trust agreement therein satisfied each of these several statutory requirements:

- (1) None of the parties challenge Mr. Manning II's capacity to create the trust in the first instance;
- (2) Mr. Manning's Trust agreement indicated his intention to create the Support Trust;
- (3) Sally Manning was the definite beneficiary of the trust;
- (4) The trustees have duties to perform; and
- (5) The trustees and the beneficiaries are not the same person.

¹⁵ Foster v. Foster, 384 S.C. 380, 384, 682 S.E.2d 312, 314 Ct.App. 2009) (citing Whetstone v. Whetstone, 309 S.C. 227, 231, 420 S.E.2d 877, 879 (Ct.App. 1992)), *rehearing denied* (17 Sept. 2009), *certiorari granted* (23 Sept. 2010), *affirmed in part and reversed in part on other grounds*, 393 S.C. 95, 711 S.E.2d 878 (2011).

¹⁶ See S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-402(a) (Thomson Reuters West 2015).

This trust is very similar to the one in Rentz v. Polk, where the Supreme Court concluded the trust had been validly created trust since “[t]here was a declaration of the trust, property to which the trust pertained, a trustee, and named beneficiaries.”¹⁷ Moreover, as with most contracts, “[i]n ascertaining the Settlor's intent, [a] court must resort first to the [particularized] language of the trust instrument . . .”¹⁸ This Court of Appeals, also in Sarlin v. Sarlin, acknowledged “the language of the trust provision [was] perfectly clear. The simple words of the provision state that the settlor established the trust for ‘the benefit of [his] wife.’ The purpose of the trust can be no plainer.”¹⁹

This Court of Appeals should reverse the Circuit Court’s finding the spousal support trust was invalid. Mr. Manning acted properly and did his Estate’s trustees.

B. The Circuit Court’s Conclusion Sally Manning Was Entitled To An Elective Share Constituted The Contingent Event Creating The Support Trust

The Circuit Court found the Support Trust invalid because it “only purports to provide for [Sally] Manning at some point in the future and based upon a determination, through some unspecified process, that a portion of the estate was ‘deemed’ payable to her.” (R.pp.7-8). Nevertheless, the Circuit Court overlooked the proposition that when it determined Sally Manning was entitled to her elective share, that decisional event triggered the contingent event creating the Support Trust.

¹⁷ Rentz v. Polk, 267 S.C. 359, 363, 228 S.E.2d 106, 107 (1976).

¹⁸ See Sarlin v. Sarlin, 312 S.C. 27, 29, 430 S.E.2d 530, 532 (Ct.App. 1993). See also Reporter’s Comment to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-1006 (Thomson Reuters West 2015); Beattie v. J.M. Tull Foundation, 178 F.3d 1282, 1282 (4th Cir. 1999).

¹⁹ Sarlin v. Sarlin, 312 S.C. 27, 30, 430 S.E.2d 530, 532 (Ct. App. 1993) (Alteration in original).

The Trust Agreement's provisions vis-à-vis the Support Trust are triggered "in the event any portion of the Trust Estate **shall be deemed** payable to or for the benefit of my spouse [Sally Manning]." (R.p.5) (Emphasis in original). The Trust Agreement further provides that once the Support Trust is triggered, the portion of the Trust Estate determined payable to or benefiting Sally Manning, "**shall be held, administered[,] and distributed as a separate share for the benefit of [Sally Manning]** as [otherwise] provided' in the Trust Agreement. (R.p.5) (Emphasis added). This language makes sense in light of the nature and purpose of the elective statute, as well as the procedure for a surviving spouse to take his or her elective share.

The elective share statute is a "statute of creation, and strict compliance with its terms is mandatory in order to exercise the right to an elective share."²⁰ The spouse must exercise his or her right during his or her life.²¹ Also, the surviving spouse must notify the personal representative within a specific time period following decedent's death.²² Further, even though the elective share only attaches to the probate estate, it can be satisfied from certain other assets.²³ Of particular relevance in this matter is the legal requirement²⁴ that Mr. Manning's trust be found illusory under before trust assets can be used to calculate the elective share:

This subsection does not prevent a finding that a revocable *inter vivos* trust is illusory and thus invalid for purposes of determining a spouse's elective share rights pursuant to Article 2, Title 62. A finding that a revocable *inter vivos* trust is illusory and thus invalid for

²⁰ Simpson v. Sanders, 314 S.C. 413, 415, 445 S.E.2d 93, 94 (1994).

²¹ S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-205 (Thomson Reuters West 2015).

²² S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-205(a) (Thomson Reuters West 2015).

²³ S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-207.

²⁴ See S. C. Code Ann. § 62-2-207(a)(8) (Thomson Reuters West 2015) (

purposes of determining a spouse's elective share rights pursuant to Article 2, Title 62 does not render that revocable *inter vivos* trust invalid, but allows inclusion of the trust assets as part of the probate estate of the settlor only for the purpose of calculating the elective share.²⁵

The South Carolina Supreme Court, in Dreher v. Dreher, concluded that S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-401(c):

... confirms the validity of revocable *inter vivos* trusts by providing such trusts shall not be declared completely invalid because the trust creator or settlor retained substantial control over the trust. [S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-401(c)] then provides, '[n]othing herein, however shall prevent a finding that a revocable *inter vivos* trust, enforceable for other purposes, is illusory for purposes of determining a spouse's elective share rights. . . .'. The second sentence clearly conveys that no part of the statute, including the first sentence, should be construed to prevent a finding that a revocable *inter vivos* trust is illusory for purposes of the elective share. This construction of the second sentence does not cause the first sentence to be superfluous because of the third sentence in the statute. The third sentence specifically provides that a revocable *inter vivos* trust found to be illusory and thus invalid for elective share purposes will not be rendered completely invalid. Further under [S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-401(c)], **if a revocable *inter vivos* trust is illusory for elective share purposes, the trust assets become a part of the probate estate only for the calculation of the elective share** and are available to satisfy the elective share to the extent necessary under [S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-207].²⁶

²⁵ S. C. Code Ann. § 62-7-401(c) (Thomson Reuters West 2015). The South Carolina Trust Code further provides in the same statute that

In that event, the trust property that passes or has passed to the surviving spouse, including a beneficial interest of the surviving spouse in that trust property, must be applied first to satisfy the elective share and to reduce contributions due from other recipient of transfers including the probate estate, and the trust assets are available for satisfaction of the elective share only to any remaining extent necessary pursuant to [S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-207].

S. C. Code Ann. § 62-7-401(c).

²⁶ Dreher v. Dreher, 370 S.C. 75, 81, 634 S.E.2d 646, 649 (2006) (Emphasis added). At the time Dreher was issued S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-401(c) was then codified as S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-112 (Thomson Reuters West Supp. 2004).

Consequently, Salley Manning's entitlement to any portion of Mr. Manning's trust assets was ***neither*** a given ***nor*** a fixed right at the time Mr. Manning passed away. Salley Manning had to affirmatively act by specifically electing to take her statutory elective share and, in turn, the Circuit Court was required to determine if the beneficial interest held in trust for Salley Manning (which comprised a portion of her elective share) had to be distributed outright to Sally Manning in satisfaction of her elective share or could be retained in trust for her benefit.

The Circuit Court's decision effectively "deemed" a portion of the *res* of Mr. Manning's *inter vivos* trust essentially payable to Sally. Manning on a straightaway basis. (R.pp.5-9). An acknowledged authoritative source - *Black's Law Dictionary* - defines the verb "deem" as "to hold" or "adjudge" or "determine".²⁷ Using these definitions, Mr. Manning's trust agreement provides that says "in the event any portion of the Trust Estate shall be [**determined/adjudged/considered**] payable to or for the benefit of my spouse [Sally Manning], such amount shall be held, administered and distributed as a separate share for the benefit of my spouse [Sally Manning]" (R.p.5) (Emphasis added).

This language required the placement of appropriate assets into the Support Trust for Sally Manning's benefit *if and when* it was determined some portion of the Trust Estate had to actually be paid to Sally Manning. The Circuit Court undisputedly concluded that as "nothing ha[d] passed to [Sally] Manning under [Mr. Manning's] estate planning documents [Sally] Manning [wa]s entitled to take an elective share of one-third of [Mr. Manning's] probate estate, free of trust, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-201." (R.p.4).

²⁷ *Black's Law Dictionary* 6th ed., p.415 (West 1991). The term has also been defined as "to consider or judge something in a particular way." Cambridge Dictionary Online (found at dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/English/deem).

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