THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-07-00913
Appellate Case No. 2017-002019

RECEIVED
APR 16 2018
SC Court of Appeals

In the matter of the Estate of John Joseph Manning, Jr.

Deanna Bushman, as Holder of Durable Power of
Attorney for Sally Manning and as a Trustee of the
Trust Agreement of Sally Manning Dated December 6, 2004 Respondent,

v.

The Estate of John J. Manning, Jr.; John J. Manning, III;
Christopher Manning, and Linda Manning, Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

J. Ashley Twombly # 72916
TWENGE + TWOMBLY LLC
311 Carteret St.
Beaufort, SC 29902

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court correctly held that placing a third of Jack's estate in the discretionary support trust would not satisfy the elective share.

First, the law entitles Sally to a third of Jack's estate, yet under this trust Sally may not get anything and may not receive any benefit. This contravenes the probate code. The elective share is not conditioned on need.

Second, the discretionary support trust does not satisfy the statutory requirements for counting the full value of the trust assets towards satisfying the elective share. The law allows a testator to reduce the elective share by placing all or part of the elective share amount in trust. The trust must meet certain objective standards set forth in the Internal

Revenue Code. The discretionary support trust does not meet those standards, thus, placing a third of Jack's estate in the discretionary support trust does not satisfy the elective share.

The Estate says this case involves valuing inter vivos trusts (trusts created during the testator's lifetime) and "illusory" trusts. Respectfully, the Estate is incorrect. This case is controlled by the fact that the discretionary support trust fails to comply with the standards for receiving full value—a dollar-for-dollar credit—towards the elective share.

In similar fashion, the Estate's arguments about the trust having discernable standards for management, about expert testimony offered below, and about whether the circuit court correctly said the discretionary support trust was incapable of valuation are either irrelevant, barred from consideration, or wrong. This Court should affirm.

A. The circuit court correctly held this would-be support trust does not satisfy the elective share.

The circuit court correctly held this trust (which had not been created or funded) would not satisfy the elective share. The elective share is not conditioned on the surviving spouse's need. This trust does not satisfy the statutory requirements for "full value" counting towards the elective share. The Estate's arguments about inter vivos trusts are irrelevant.

i. A surviving spouse is entitled to a third of the probate estate but under this trust the surviving spouse potentially receives nothing.

Section 62-2-201(a) says that when a married person domiciled in South Carolina dies "the surviving spouse has a right of election to take an elective share of one-third of the decedent's probate estate[.]" Precedent describes the elective share as a "substantial" right. *Seifert v. S. Nat. Bank*, 305 S.C. 353, 357, 409 S.E.2d 337, 339 (1991).

A testator may not circumvent the elective share. Indeed, a testator's intent to bypass the elective share is irrelevant. This was settled by *Matter of Patrick*, which specifically rejected the argument that enforcing the elective share would be contrary to the decedent's wishes. 303 S.C. 559, 562-563, 402 S.E.2d 664, 665-666 (1991).

No case has held that "taking" the elective share requires the surviving spouse to receive assets in fee simple absolute. In fact, the next section of this brief discusses the probate code's explicit recognition that certain assets count dollar-for-dollar in satisfaction of the elective share even though the surviving spouse does not inherit them outright.

But as the circuit court correctly reasoned here, Sally did not receive anything from Jack's estate in the three years that lapsed between his death and the summary judgment hearing. (9/8/17 Or.p.4). Nothing passed to Sally in 2014, 2015, 2016, or 2017. (Tr.p.11).

The circuit court also correctly reasoned it is entirely possible Sally would continue receiving nothing if the amount of the elective share was placed the discretionary support trust. (9/8/17 Or.p.4). The "benefits" this trust provides are conditional and indeterminate. The benefits are conditional because they rely on Jay and Christopher's discretionary determination that a distribution is "necessary" for Sally's health and support. *Id.* The benefits are indeterminate because it is impossible to predict the future and because an insurance policy currently provides for Sally's monthly care at her residential facility. (Tr.p.6, lines 1-4). Given these circumstances, even if the elective share *had* been put in this trust Sally would effectively get nothing from Jack's estate.

This directly violates the elective share statute. The surviving spouse's right to take elective share is not based on the surviving spouse's need or on a third party's assessment

of that need. This is no different that the intent argument the Supreme Court rejected in *Matter of Patrick*. See 303 S.C. at 562-563, 402 S.E.2d at 665-666.

The circuit court correctly held the discretionary support trust would not satisfy the elective share statute and did not “entitle” Sally to anything. (9/8/17 Or.p.5).

ii. The circuit court correctly held the trust could not satisfy the elective share because the trust does not meet the statutory requirements for “full value.”

Prior to the probate code’s 2013 amendments any benefits a surviving spouse received from a deceased spouse’s non-probate assets were irrelevant to the elective share’s calculation. It did not matter, for example, that the surviving wife in *Gallagher v. Evert* had received over \$219,000 in assets from her deceased husband outside of probate court. 353 S.C. 59, 62, 577 S.E.2d 217, 218 (Ct. App. 2002). This Court explained benefits obtained from non-probate assets “are immaterial” to the elective share.

After the probate code’s 2013 amendments “certain specific non-probate assets received as a result of the deceased spouse’s death” are counted towards the surviving spouse’s elective share. S. Alan Medlin, *The South Carolina Probate Code Patched and Refurbished: Version 2013*, 65 S.C. L. Rev. 81, 103 (2013). The list of those assets is codified in section 62-2-207(a). Benefits from life insurance, retirement accounts, and benefits passing into a trust count as credits towards the elective share amount. *Id.*

The key part of the statute for this case is the subsection explaining how to value a “beneficial interest” such as Sally’s beneficial interest in a trust. Section 62-2-207(c)(1) says the surviving spouse’s beneficial interest “must be computed at the full value of the qualifying property” if the beneficial interest “qualifies for the federal estate tax marital

deduction pursuant to Section 2056 of the Internal Revenue Code.” In the words of a frequent commentator, this “ allows a deceased spouse to partially avoid the elective share by devising to the surviving spouse a beneficial interest in a trust that qualifies for federal tax purposes.” Medlin, *supra* p.7, at 105. The surviving spouse is “charged” with the full value of the trust property even though the beneficial interest “is for income only and does not include an entitlement to trust principal.” *Id.*

As the circuit court correctly found, the problem with the discretionary support trust is that it does not meet the Internal Revenue Code’s objective requirements to qualify for the federal estate tax marital deduction. In order for assets passing in trust for the surviving spouse to qualify for the marital deduction, and therefore be treated as qualifying property under section 62-2-207, the surviving spouse must be “*entitled* to all the income” or have a “usufruct” interest (the right to use the property) for life. 26 U.S.C. § 2056(b)(5) and 26 U.S.C. § 2056(b)(7)(B)(ii)(I) (emphasis added). One such qualifying trust is a “QTIP trust.” QTIP stands for Qualified Terminable Interest Property as this Court as previously noted. *Green ex rel. Estate of Cottrell*, 346 S.C. 53, 56, 550 S.E.2d 324, 326 (Ct. App. 2001).

Sally is not entitled to all the income from the discretionary support trust. Indeed, Sally is not entitled to any of the trust income. As the circuit court noted, distributions are conditioned on Jay and Christopher’s discretion. (9/8/17 Or.p.5). Thus, placing a third of Jack’s estate in the discretionary support trust would not and cannot satisfy the elective share.

Secondary authority identifies an additional statutory reason why the discretionary support trust would be defective as drafted. Recognizing that a beneficial interest in income only is not actually worth “the full value of the underlying trust property,” Medlin, *supra* p.7,

at 105, the probate code gives a surviving spouse the right to convert a trust treated as qualifying property to “a total return unitrust.” See § 62-2-207(c)(3). This conversion allows distributions to be based on the total value of property in the trust rather than just the income the trust property produces. Medlin, *supra* p.1, at 87. Thus, even if the discretionary support trust met the requirements for a trust that qualifies for the deduction under Section 2056 of the Internal Revenue Code—and it does not—Sally’s beneficial interest and distributions could never be tied to her necessity or subordinated to Jay and Christopher’s discretion.

The circuit court correctly held the discretionary support trust did not qualify for “‘full value’ satisfaction” of the elective share. See (9/8/17 Or.p.5 n.3). In light of that finding, the court had no choice other than to grant Bushman’s summary judgment motion and deny the Estate’s summary judgment motion.

iii. This case turns on the trust’s failure to meet the “full value” requirements. Arguments about inter vivos trusts or “illusory” trusts are irrelevant.

The Estate argues in its brief that gifts made to a surviving spouse in a revocable inter vivos trust would count towards the elective share. Agreed. Section 62-2-207(a)(8) ensures gifts made to an inter vivos trust during life are counted. Section 62-2-207(b) covers interests that pass under the will to a preexisting inter vivos trust.

The issue on summary judgment does not have anything to do with an inter vivos trust. Jack did not pass anything to Sally in an inter vivos trust. Jack designed his estate planning documents so Sally would not take anything from his estate.

Jack’s backup plan was for the discretionary support trust to be carved out of his inter vivos trust in the event someone determined Sally was entitled to part of his estate. The

controlling question is whether that discretionary support trust would meet the requirements for receiving a dollar-for-dollar credit towards the elective share. It does not.

The Estate also argues in its brief that Jack's trust must be found "illusory" before trust assets can be used to calculate the elective share. This is wrong. Everybody agreed below that the assets held in trust at Jack's death were included in Jack's probate estate. (Defs. Sum. J. Memo p.5); (9/8/17 Or.p.5 n.5).

The summary judgment issue has nothing to do with the issue of "illusory" trusts. That term originated in South Carolina with the Supreme Court's decision in *Seifert v. Southern National Bank*, where the Court rejected a husband's attempt to avoid the elective share by transferring the bulk of his estate to a trust benefitting to his children before he died. 305 S.C. at 355, 409 S.E.2d at 338 (1991). The Court deemed the trust illusory because the husband had "extensive control" over it. *Id.* at 355-356, 409 S.E.2d at 338.

The General Assembly responded by enacting a statute explaining this sort of "illusory" trust was a valid trust, that its value may be included in the probate estate, and that trust assets are available to satisfy the elective share if necessary. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-401(c) (Supp. ____). The Supreme Court acknowledged this statute in *Dreher v. Dreher*, a case where (as in *Siefert*), one spouse passed a substantial amount of property into a trust for the benefit of himself and his issue before he died. *Dreher*, 370 S.C. 75, 78, 634 S.E.2d 646, 647 (2006). The statute is referenced in footnote 2. *Id.* at 80, 634 S.E.2d at 648.

Here, the circuit court dealt with a different sort of attempt to get around the elective share—attempting outright disinheritance and then attempting to tie the surviving spouse's benefits from the elective share to her need for those benefits. This Court has already noted

South Carolina's statute does not authorize such a requirement. *Gallagher*, 353 S.C. at 66 n.4, 577 S.E.2d at 220 n.4. The circuit court's grant of summary judgment was correct.

B. The Estate's arguments about the trust having standards for administration, about expert testimony, and about whether the trust is capable of valuation are either not relevant, barred from consideration, or mistaken.

The Estate's brief offers three additional arguments for reversal. It contends the discretionary support trust has "discernable guidelines and standards for administration," that the circuit court relied on improper expert testimony, and that the record fails to support the circuit court's conclusion that the discretionary support trust has no value.

First, it does not matter that the discretionary support trust has discernable guidelines and standards for administration. It does not matter that Sally could hold Jay or Christopher liable if they do not exercise their discretion "as a reasonably prudent man would do with relation to his own affairs." *Cartee v. Lesley*, 290 S.C. 333, 336, 350 S.E.2d 388, 390 (1986); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-804 (Supp. ____) (statutory standard for prudent trust administration). Sally won because her right to claim an elective share is not contingent on her need and because the discretionary support trust does not meet the statutory standards for satisfying the elective share.

Second, the Estate never objected to the expert's testimony. Bushman supported her summary judgment motion with an affidavit from a certified specialist in estate planning. (Pl. Sum. J. Memo Ex.H pp.1-4). There was no objection to this expert in the Estate's summary judgment memo, (Defs. Summ. J, Memo pp.1-6), at the hearing, (7/11/17 Tr.p.12), or in the Estate's post-trial motion. (Defs. Rule 59 Mot., pp.1-5). An argument is not preserved for

review if it was not raised to the circuit court and ruled on by the circuit court. *Mullinax v. J.M. Brown Amusement Co.*, 333 S.C. 89, 94, 508 S.E.2d 848, 850 (1998).

Finally, the circuit court did not determine the discretionary support trust had “no value.” The circuit court found the trust was never set up, funded or transferred, and that even if the trust had been created and funded, the trust’s contingent and discretionary conditions for paying benefits rendered the beneficial interest “incapable of calculation” towards the elective share. (9/8/17 Or.p.5). This was not an evidentiary finding or a finding of fact. It was a direct reference to Bushman’s argument that the discretionary support trust was not a qualifying trust under state and federal law.